E CP  
RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

---

NO. 92285-3

---

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
(COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, NO. 45479-3-II)

---

JOYCE SMITH, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS PERSONAL  
REPRESENTATIVE FOR THE ESTATE OF JAMES W. SMITH,  
IZETTA DILLINGHAM, AS LIMITED GUARDIAN AD LITEM FOR  
THE MINOR CHILDREN JA'MARI SMITH, JANAJA SMITH AND  
JAMAE SMITH; AND SHAREE DAMMELL, AS LIMITED  
GUARDUAN AD LITEM FOR THE MINOR CHILD SHALYSE  
SMITH,

Appellants,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Respondents.

---

**PETITION FOR REVIEW BY SUPREME COURT (REVISED)**

---

Thaddeus P. Martin, WSBA #28175  
4928 109<sup>th</sup> Street SW  
Lakewood, Washington 98499

## **II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

When DOC issues a warrant because an offender misses an appointment, does the "take charge" relationship/duty to supervise end?

## **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The lives of the Plaintiffs forever changed on August 5, 2009, when felon Antwone Goolsby ("Goolsby") gunned down and murdered

James Smith in Tacoma less than 8 months after his release from prison. CP 214, 265-269 271-272, 377-383, 385-389, 564-566, 568-577. On this date, Goolsby drove to Tacoma and confronted James Smith for allegedly saying something disrespectful to his former girlfriend and shot him multiple times, killing him. CP 537-550. He was convicted of this murder on May 11, 2012. CP 552-562.

Goolsby was listed and known as a “violent, high impact offender. CP 391-394, 410-416. The grossly negligent supervised offender, Antwone Goolsby, had a criminal history of rape of a 12 year-old girl (forced rape at gunpoint), unlawful possession of a firearm, robbery, harassment, failure to register as a sex offender and delivery/selling of cocaine. CP 342-344, 366, 368, 370-375, 396, 398, 400-404, 433-446, 537-550, 568-779. Goolsby was sentenced to community custody and was to be supervised as a prisoner in the community for 18 to 36 months with the conditions that included work at DOC approved employment, not to consume controlled substances, no gun possession, no unlawful possession of drugs, residential and living arrangements subject to prior approval of DOC. CP 368, 537-550, 564-566. The crime that landed Goolsby into prison and community custody involved a robbery in the first degree. CP 537-550. Goolsby agreed to the conditions of release and CCO Lang was his supervising Community Corrections Officer (CCO). CP 433-446.

Almost a year prior to Goolsby’s release, his Community Corrections Officer (CCO), Judith Lang began working with the Risk Management Team to plan for Goolsby’s release and transition from

Monroe to the community. CP 718-719. On July 23, 2008, CCO Lang wrote that "Goolsby's demeanor and behavior were not suitable to be released in the community." CP 720. As early as July, 2008, Goolsby could not provide an address of where he was living (six months prior to his release) and CCO Lang knew before he was released that this was a major concern and warning sign. CP 720. Before his release, CCO Lang was also concerned that he had a strong affiliation with the notorious Compton Crips. CP 720-721. CCO Lang made special note that she was concerned that Goolsby "did not have a good release plan or a reason to refrain from his historic criminal behaviors." CP 721. Lang noted that Goolsby would not assimilate well into the community, based on his criminal history and behaviors while incarcerated. CP 721-723. On October 27, 2008, DOC and CCO Lang had concerns about him living at a DOC approved location. CP 230, 363-364, 406. Goolsby made his intent to abscond from DOC supervision altogether known before his prison release and wanted to move in with family in Arizona, Compton, California or to Pierce County, without an address. CP 230, 448-494.

DOC informed Goolsby that he would be released homeless if he could not produce a good address where he would live once released. CP 227-228. Although CCO Lang knew that Goolsby had no housing at least 6 months before he was released from prison, she made no progress in this regard from July 2008 until his release in January 2009. CP 723-724. Lang testified "the biggest issue is trying to find housing, for especially sex offenders, Mr. Goolsby." CP 725. Lang listed her concerns of

Goolsby being a high-risk offender releasing as homeless. CP 727.

If an offender did not have an approved address, DOC required them to live in a qualified shelter. CP 728. When told that he had to live in a shelter because he had not approved address, Goolsby was argumentative with Lang the entire trip from Monroe to Seattle, refusing to listen to Lang. CP 728, 731. Lang knew that when she picked him up he needed mental health medications and had not had medications for a month. CP 729. CCO Lang confirmed that Goolsby was required to sign in and give his address to King County Sheriff's once a week because he was homeless and was required to register weekly as a Level 3, high-risk sex offender. CP 730. Goolsby signed all of the supervision conditions on January 21, 2009, with Lang and there was certainly a take-charge relationship. CP 731. Goolsby stated he could not stay out of drug areas or abandon his gang affiliations. CP 731-732. On January 21, 2009, when CCO Lang ordered Goolsby that he was expected to stay in an approved shelter, he laughed, stating "you expect me to live in a shelter?" CP 733.

From this first day of release, after Goolsby signed the supervision conditions, CCO Lang gave him \$40 and dropped him off at a shelter and she never once supervised him in the community after that date. CP 734. Goolsby did not stay at a shelter that day or any other day. CP 735. CCO Lang picked Goolsby up from his prison release at Monroe on January 21, 2009. CP 726-727, 227-228. From the first day of his release, Goolsby was argumentative on the ride from Monroe to Seattle and again said he wanted to go to California or Pierce County and refused to listen to CCO

Lang. *Id.* When Goolsby was told to stay out of drug areas, he stated “everywhere is a drug area” and he stated that there were too many “Bloods” in Seattle, being that he was a Crip. *Id.* Goolsby was told he had to stay at a homeless shelter in Seattle and he replied, “You expect me to live in a shelter?” *Id.* Lang then gave Goolsby \$40 dollars after arriving in Seattle and then showed him the door. CP 227-228.

DOC acknowledged Goolsby had an “I will do what I want to do” attitude related to where he would live once out of prison. *Id.* Prior to his release, January 15, 2009, Goolsby’s CCO, Judith Lang, documented Goolsby as a “high risk offender” releasing homeless and she was already “skeptical about this offender’s motivation for change.” CP 227-228.

From this day, January 21, 2009, until the day of the murder on August 5, 2009, Judith Lang never saw Goolsby in the community and never enforced the condition that he live at a DOC approved address- she never knew where he lived. *Id.*, CP 334-340. He never even stayed the night at any shelter. CP 227-228.

Goolsby was a sex offender and was required to register every week because he had no address, and he also had mental health issues and needed medications. *Id.*, CP 331-332, 600-620. Goolsby only registered once, the day he was released from prison, with his address listed as the address he had before prison in Tacoma, not a current or real address. CP 346-356. On January 21, 2009, Goolsby’s address was homeless. CP 328. By early February, Goolsby stopped reporting daily as required, and did not take the required UAs. CP 739. The next time that

CCO Lang heard anything from Goolsby was when he was arrested just a few days later on January 26, 2009. CP 226. Goolsby tested positive for marijuana use on this date. CP 274-276. On February 17, 2009, Goolsby had a violated his community custody and was found guilty of failing to have a DOC approved residence and employment, failure to report and using illegal drugs. CP 225, 297-301, 303, 318-322, 324-326, 408. This was conclusive evidence that Goolsby intended to live his life as usual as a highly violent criminal with no accountability. On this same date, Goolsby was ordered to come into the DOC office and provide the address of where he was living or he would be detained. *Id.*, CP 312-316.

Two days later, the police in the community again contacted Goolsby. CP 226-227. King County Police arrested Goolsby again on February 20, 2009. CP 741.

When CCO Lang did talk to Goolsby in the DOC office, he was being volatile in his speech, complained about not being able to live in Tacoma or Tacoma, could not provide proof that he registered as a sex offender, and did not provide an address of where he was living, just stating he was “staying in a motel.” CP 224. Even though DOC professed that they would detain Goolsby if he could not provide an address, they did not. *Id.* As testified by DOC expert Stough:

This is a case where the actual “community supervision” was non-existent for this violent, murderous gang member and the DOC provided a complete absence of care of the major conditions of supervision, which included field supervision, ensuring that the offender was at an approved

address, ensuring that the offender was on his mental health medications and ensuring that the offender went to treatment for his addiction to illegal drugs. The complete failure to supervise this offender in the community by CCO Lang led directly to this offender absconding and related to DOC eventually obtaining a Secretary's Warrant, they grossly violated their own policies in this regard, enabling this offender to escape supervision. The most important aspects of community supervision of a violent offender include the community correctional officer conducting field (community supervision) of an offender and enforcing the condition that the offender is living at a location approved by the DOC. Attached to this declaration is a true and correct copy of the Minimum contacts standard of DOC policy 380.200, which required CCO Lang to have two out of office or field contacts with Goolsby per month. CCO Lang never had one field contact with Goolsby in 8 months. In this case, the community correction officer never supervised Mr. Goolsby in the community, not one time, and Mr. Goolsby never lived at a DOC approved location.

CP 143-144.

Although Goolsby was required to attend narcotics Anonyms three times a week, he only went a couple times during his entire supervision. CP 223. Lang knew that Goolsby was not in community service and did not have a job, violating his conditions. CP 743. On March 2, 2009, CCO Lang only knew that Goolsby was living at a motel, she never went to see any of these motels or whether Goolsby was there. CP 222. On March 3, 2009, CCO Lang noted that Goolsby she did not know where Goolsby was living. CP 418-422. On March 6, 2009, Seattle police went to check the Airline Motel, they walked in on Goolsby in the hotel with another violent sex offender on supervision who ran to the toilet and attempted to flush

crack cocaine down the toilet. CP 221, 286-289, 291, 303, 305-306. On March 12, 2009, CCO Lang learned that Goolsby was prostituting girls at the motel and affiliating with drug users. *Id.*, CP 220, 260, 748. On March 23, 2009, DOC found guilty of associating with a drug seller, gang members, and possession of cocaine. CP 219,293-295. On this date, his address was listed as “homeless in Seattle.” CP 276. On March 27, 2009, when CCO Lang asked Goolsby where he lived, he was evasive. CP 218. CCO Lang again gave an empty warning that if Goolsby could not provide an approved DOC address where he lived that he would go back to jail. *Id.*, 278-282. CCO Lang admitted in writing that this was a “High need and needs extra attention. *Id.* By April 2, 2009, CCO noted that Goolsby had failed to start chemical dependency treatment. CP 217. On April 10, 2009, CCO Lang found out that Goolsby was not staying at the shelter he was supposed to stay and represented he was staying and she warned Goolsby “one last time” and given another false warning that he would be arrested and detained if he did not stay at the shelter or approved residence. CP 216. This was the last time DOC had contact with Goolsby before the murder in August. *Id.* On April 21, 2009, DOC placed a warrant out for Goolsby arrest. *Id.*

CCO Lang’s testimony conclusively proves gross negligence:

Q. Other than the date you transported Mr. Goolsby from Monroe Prison, did you ever see Mr. Goolsby in the field one time?

A. I can’t recall.

Q. Based on the chronological notes that we’ve been going

through for the past 90 minutes, so you see anywhere in those chronological notes that you made where you saw Mr. Goolsby in the field one time?

A. No.

Q. Based on the chronological notes that we've been going through, do you see anywhere in the chronological notes that you ever attempted to make a field contact with Mr. Goolsby?

A. Not from the notes, no. (CP 759-760).

Q. You never saw the offender in the field from 1/21/09 (prison release) to 8/5/09 (James Smith murder), correct?

A. Correct. (CP 765).

Q. Did Mr. Goolsby ever provide you with an address?

A. The physical address, no. (CP 761.)

Q. From the time that Mr. Goolsby left Monroe and you picked him up till the time of his involvement in this homicide on 8/5/2009, did Mr. Goolsby ever had a DOC-approved housing?

A. It was not approved by us, no. (CP 763.)

Q. Based on your chronological notes, was Mr. Goolsby ever on mental health medications?

A. Not to my knowledge. (CP 763).

CCO Lang only saw Goolsby two other occasions, in her office, after his release. (CP 765). His UA was only taken two times and was positive for illegal drugs. CP 766. Lang was aware that Goolsby was still active as a Compton Crip while under her supervision. CP 765-766. Lang also knew that Goolsby was associating with other offenders, drug dealers and gang members, using illegal drugs, selling drugs and prostituting girls

while under her supervision. CP 766. Goolsby never went to narcotics anonymous. CP 776. DOC were grossly negligent and violated policy with regard to the Secretary's Warrant as well, according to expert Stough:

The fact that DOC eventually initiated a bench warrant 5 months after repeated her knowledge that Goolsby was engaging in his historic criminal lifestyle of gangs, drugs, had no address does not absolve DOC's responsibility to apprehend and supervise this offender, especially since DOC was grossly negligent in initiating and prosecuting the warrant and the fact that his CCO Judith Lang never once conducted a field visit did not release them from their obligation to supervise, monitor, locate, investigate, and discover Goolsby's whereabouts or his activities. Instead, the DOC gave final warning after final warning, but failed to enforce the conditions in the first place.

In other words, DOC's failure to act on the clear red flags and warnings that Mr. Goolsby was not complying with the terms of his release, along with the complete absence of his community correctional officer to conduct a single field visit, to make sure he was living where he was supposed to, to get him into consistent drug treatment, to ensure he was on his medications, etc., directly led to him absconding supervision.

On a more probable than not basis, the scientific evidence (Research, studies) as discussed in the recent NCR Report demonstrates that adequate and proper parole/probation supervision has been shown by research to significantly reduce recidivism and increase desistance from criminal behavior when supervision is adequate and when it is linked to appropriate treatments.

CP 156-158.

Defendants also argue that once they issue a Secretary's Warrant on an offender that their obligation to supervise the offender is over. This is absolutely wrong. Defendants

provided a very cursory declaration of James Harm related to the Community Response Unit. Mr. Harm disingenuously fails to explain the purpose and job of the Community Response Unit (CRU), which is governed by DOC policy 370.380, a true and correct copy of the policy attached to my declaration as Exhibit 4 (CP 184-187).

Pursuant to a Secretary's Warrant, once an offender absconds, CCO Lang was to make a reasonable attempt to locate the offender within 72 hours of learning of the absconding, then complete the Secretary's Warrant, then within the same 72 hours of attempting to locate the offender Lang was to email the warrant to DOC Headquarters Warrant Desk. The Warrant was then to be entered within 72 hours of receipt and then issued. Then CCO Lang was to serve the warrant personally or through law enforcement. In this case, the Secretary's Warrant was issued for Goolsby on April 21, 2009, yet CCO Lang made any attempt to locate the offender within 72 hours or ever, the warrant was not requested until May 7, 2009, 17 days after absconding, there was never any attempt by Lang or anyone at DOC to serve the warrant, even though Lang knew the name of the motel that Goolsby lived at and frequented and had access to look at all motel registration information for Seattle motels, the CRU was not notified of Goolsby's warrant until June 11, 2009 and there is no evidence that anyone from DOC ever communicated with, worked with or cooperated with law enforcement to serve the warrant or apprehend Goolsby. In other words, CCO Lang and the DOC completely "dropped the ball" here also.

CP 161-162.

The Court of Appeals affirmed in its opinion filed on August 26, 2015. See Appendix 1 ("Opinion"). The Court ruled that (Opinion, p.5):

Initially, DOC owed a duty to supervise Goolsby; however that duty ended when Goolsby absconded supervision and DOC issued a warrant for his arrest.

The Court found that DOC is not liable for its alleged inaction after Goolsby absconded. (Opinion, P.5):

DOC is not liable for its alleged inaction after Goolsby absconded because its duty to supervise him ended. As for DOC's alleged negligent supervision before Goolsby absconded, we conclude that the Estate failed to establish a prima facie case of proximate cause.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

Petitioner brings this motion pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with decisions of this Court and other decisions of the Court of Appeals. This court should grant review and reverse.

##### **A. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS CONFLICTS WITH *TAGGART V. STATE*, 118 WN.2D 195, 219-222, 822 P.2D 243 (1992), AND ITS PROGENY.**

This Court ruled in 1992 that the relationship between a parole officer and the parolees he or she supervises creates a duty to exercise reasonable care to control the parolee to protect anyone who might reasonably be endangered by the parolee's dangerous propensities. *Taggart v. State*, 118 Wn.2d 195, 219-222, 822 P.2d 243 (1992).

The relationship between a parole officer and a parolee constitutes a “special relationship” under the Restatement of Torts (Second) § 315 (1965.) The relationship gives rise to a duty to protect the public from harm that the parolee might cause. *Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 219. The Court explained, at 220, as follows:

When a parolee’s criminal history and progress during parole show that the parolee is likely to cause bodily harm to others if not controlled, the parole officer is under a duty to exercise reasonable care to control the parolee and prevent him or her from doing such harm.

Various aspects of the relationship between DOC and an offender under supervision give rise to the “take charge” relationship that gives rise to a duty to supervise offenders to protect the public from their dangerous propensities. The statute that authorizes and empowers supervision establishes the “take charge” relationship. *Taggart v. State* 118 Wn.2d 195, 219-220, 822 P.2d 243 (1992); *Joyce v. State*, 155 Wn.2d 306, 317, 119 P.3d 825 (2005); *Couch v. State*, 113 Wn. App 556, 565, 54 P.3d 197 (2002). The terms of the judgment and sentence can create the relationship. *Bishop v. Miche*, 137 Wn.2d 518, 528, 973 P. 2d 465 (1999);” *Joyce* 155 Wn.2d at 318; *Bordon v. State*, 122 Wn. App 227, 236, 95 P.3d 764 (2004). The supervising agency’s rules and regulations governing supervision can create the take charge relationship as well. *Bishop*, 137 Wn.2d at 528.

The Court of Appeals, Division Two and Division One, recently considered whether DOC continues to owe a duty to supervise an offender after the offender absconds and DOC issues a warrant for his arrest. *Smith v. DOC*, No. 45479–3–II, decided on August 26, 2015, Opinion p. 5-6, and in *Husted v. State*, 187 Wn. App. 579, 348 P.3d 776, 778 (2015).

The Court of Appeals held that “Initially DOC owed a duty to supervise Goolsby however that duty ended when Goolsby absconded supervision and DOC issued a warrant for his arrest.” Opinion, p.5.

This holding flies in the face of *Taggart’s* formulation of the “continuing relationship” (*Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 219):

We hold that the relationship between a parole officer and the parolees he or she supervises creates a similar duty for the officers. As a preliminary matter, we note that a duty will be imposed under § 315 only upon a showing of a “definite, established and continuing relationship between the defendant and the third party.” *Honcoop v. State*, 111 Wash. 2d 182, 193, 759 P.2d 1188 (1988). Under RCW 72.04A.080, parolees “shall be subject to the supervision of the department of corrections, and the probation and parole officers of the department shall be charged with the preparation of progress reports of parolees and to give guidance and supervision to such parolees within the conditions of a parolee’s release from custody.” RCW 72.04A.080. This statute is sufficient to establish that parole officers have a “definite, established and continuing relationship” with their parolees.

The *Taggart* Court rejected the State’s argument that a duty to supervise required a full custodial relationship. The Court of Appeals,

Divisions One and Two, incorrectly ruled that the “definite, established and continuing relationship” required to impose a duty to supervise only arose if the offender maintained some contact with his CCO. It inaccurately cited *Taggart*'s formulation of the take charge relationship as dependent upon such ongoing contact, citing to *Taggart* at p. 219 (Opinion, p. 9):

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