RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Dec 02, 2015, 2:27 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 92285-3



SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOYCE SMITH, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE FOR THE ESTATE OF JAMES W. SMITH, IZETTA DILLINGHAM, AS LIMITED GUARDIAN AD LITEM FOR THE MINOR CHILDREN JA'MARI SMITH, JANAJA SMITH AND JAMAE SMITH; AND SHAREE DAMMELL, AS LIMITED GUARDIAN AD LITEM FOR THE MINOR CHILD SHALYSE SMITH,

Appellants,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Respondent.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

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

VI. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Appellants Do Not Take Issue With the Court of Appeals' Ruling That Appellants Failed to Establish Proximate Cause Rendering the Appeal Moot.

The sole issue identified for review by the Appellants is whether the duty outlined in *Taggart* continues when an offender absconds and a warrant is issued for the offender's arrest. Pet. at 2. Appellants have not identified the Court of Appeals ruling regarding Appellants' failure to establish proximate cause as an issue for review or provided any case law showing the decision meets the standard for review under RAP 13.4(b). RAP 13.7(b) limits review only to those issues properly raised in the

petition as directed in RAP 13.4(c)(5). As such, Appellants' petition is moot because even if a duty existed after Goolsby absconded, which the Court of Appeals properly found it did not, Appellants have failed to establish, absent speculation, Goolsby would have been in jail at the time of the shooting. See Hungerford v. Dep't of Corr., 135 Wn. App. 240, 253, 139 P.3d 1131 (2006).

In this case, before the trial court and the Court of Appeals, Appellants attempted to rely on the testimony of Mr. Stough to claim Goolsby would have been in jail at the time of the shooting if DOC acted differently. However, as the Court of Appeals noted, Mr. Stough never offered any testimony to that effect and was not qualified to do so. *Smith*, 359 P.3d at 873. The Court of Appeals went on to note DOC does not have a duty enforceable in tort to rehabilitate offenders and so there is no causal connection between DOC's supervision of Goolsby and the fact that he was willing to engage in criminal activity. *Smith*, 359 P.3d at 873-74.

As such, even assuming for the sake of argument a duty existed, which it did not, Appellants' failure to identify the Court of Appeals' decision on proximate cause as an issue that meets the standard for review renders the petition moot and review should be denied.

B. Appellants Have Not Met the Standards Required for Granting a Petition for Review Under RAP 13.4(b) Because the Court of Appeals' Decision Is Consistent With *Taggart*.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court by applying the principles of *Taggart* and subsequent case law to find that DOC does not have a duty when an offender absconds from supervision and a warrant for his arrest has been timely issued. *Smith*, 359 P.3d at 871. Appellants' argument that the decision conflicts with *Taggart* and other appellate opinions interpreting *Taggart* is simply incorrect. Pet. at 2.

Washington recognizes the general rule that there is no duty to control the conduct of a third party so long as there is not a special relationship that gives rise to a duty to control the person's conduct. Taggart, 118 Wn.2d at 218-19. This Court in Taggart held that the relationship between a parole officer and a parolee gives rise to such a duty upon a showing of a "definite, established, and continuing relationship between the defendant and the third party." Id. at 219. In the case below, the Court of Appeals recognized that, as per this Court's decision in Taggart, DOC has a duty to control offenders under DOC's supervision. Smith, 359 P.3d at 870. Appellants contend that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with Taggart because that case allegedly held that DOC's duty to supervise an offender is terminated by the offender when the offender misses a supervision appointment. Pet, at 1. They also

contend that *Taggart* requires that DOC has an ongoing, unlimited in time and space, take-charge duty to supervise offenders regardless of the circumstances. *See, e.g.*, Pet. at 13-18. Both contentions are based on a flawed understanding of the courts' decisions.

The Court of Appeals recently held in *Husted* that the exercise of authority depends on the continuing nature of the relationship between DOC and the offender. *Husted v. State*, 187 Wn. App. 579, 348 P.3d 776, 780 (2015) (citing *Taggart*, 118 Wn.2d at 219). The offender in *Husted* absconded from supervision and DOC immediately issued a warrant for the offender's arrest. *Id.* In affirming the trial court's decision, the Court of Appeals noted if the offender absconds and a warrant is issued for the offender's arrest, the offender is no longer subject to the community corrections officer's control because the offender cannot be monitored, given direction, or sanctioned. *Id.* at 780. Making the exact same arguments as the Appellants are making in this case, the Appellants in *Husted* petitioned this court for review and the petition was rejected.

Consistent with the analysis in *Husted* and this Court's analysis in *Taggart*, the Court of Appeals in this case correctly held when the offender absconded and a warrant had been issued, the take charge relationship ceased to exist. *Smith*, 359 P.3d at 870. This is also reflected in RCW 9.94A.171(3), the tolling statute, which recognizes there is no

supervision when the offender absconds, and that the period of supervision and the duty resumes once the relationship with the offender is reestablished.⁶

The Court of Appeals' ruling was rational and straightforward. DOC's duty is not premised merely on its authority to monitor offenders but its ability to do so as well. The community corrections officer's duty is to adequately monitor and report violations of the offender's conditions of supervision. *See Bishop v. Miche*, 137 Wn.2d 518, 526, 973 P.2d 465 (1999). In RCW 9.94.720, the Legislature codified the actions that community corrections officers can take in the course of supervising offenders, including monitoring the offender, and even incarceration.

The underlying premise of both *Bishop* and RCW 9.94.720 is that offender's conduct can be controlled by the specter of being incarcerated, or punished by a court or other sanctioning authority, if the offender fails to abide by the terms and conditions of their supervision. But this control is only possible through continuous, direct contact with the offender allowing community corrections officers to take such actions. When an offender absconds, the officer can no longer use these tools because the

⁶ Formerly, RCW 9.94A.625. No substantive changes were made to the statute when it was amended and re-codified that affect Goolsby's supervision.

offender cannot be monitored or brought before the appropriate authority for sanctioning.

Contrary to Appellants' assertions, the Court of Appeals' ruling is consistent with this Court's decision in *Taggart*. DOC did not have an ongoing, continuous relationship with Goolsby after he absconded, and therefore had no duty or ability to control him.

C. The Court of Appeals' Ruling Is Consistent With Joyce v. Department of Corrections.

Appellants also assert that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Joyce v. Dep't of Corr.*, 155 Wn.2d 306, 119 P.3d 825 (2005), because the Court of Appeals ruled DOC no longer had an ongoing continuous relationship with Goolsby whereby it could control his behavior when he absconded and DOC issued a warrant for his arrest.

First, as discussed above, Appellants' assertions lack merit because the Court of Appeals' decision was not based on a mere "missed appointment." Rather, the Court of Appeals found that DOC had no continuing duty of control over Goolsby once he absconded and a warrant was issued for his arrest. *Smith*, 359 P.3d at 868.

Second, the Court of Appeal's holding is consistent with *Joyce* because DOC had no contact with Goolsby after he had absconded and a warrant was issued for his arrest. In *Joyce*, despite failing to report as directed, no warrant was issued for his arrest.

Joyce, 155 Wn.2d at 312-15. Thus, neither the offender's absconding nor whether the issuance of a warrant temporarily terminated the duty to supervise the offender were issues in *Joyce*. In addition, although he missed some reporting dates, the offender in Joyce maintained ongoing contact with his community corrections officer. Joyce, 155 Wn.2d at 312-15. Therefore, because DOC "maintained a definite, established, and continuing relationship by assigning community corrections officers to monitor and notify the judge if [the offender] failed to substantially comply with the court's conditions of release," this court found that a duty existed. Id. at 320. However, unlike in Joyce, when Goolsby absconded, DOC had no ability to maintain a relationship with Goolsby allowing it to enforce his conditions of release, and so no duty could exist.

Finally, this court in *Joyce* recognized that DOC's breach of duty was the failure to issue a warrant. *Joyce*, 155 Wn.2d at 322-23. In *Joyce*, the offender had been arrested shortly before the accident, which had injured the plaintiff. The plaintiff presented admissible evidence that the offender would have been in the King County jail on the day of the accident injuring plaintiff had DOC issued a warrant as was required. *Id.* at 322. In effect, this court held that issuing the warrant is the last act of "control" DOC has over an absconding offender and thus to the extent

Joyce creates a duty to issue a warrant, DOC met that duty here by issuing a warrant the day Goolsby failed to attend treatment.

The Court of Appeals' ruling is consistent with *Joyce* and there is no basis for further review.

D. DOC's Internal Polices and Statutes Do Not Create a Duty to Apprehend Fugitive Offenders Either.

Appellants also rely on DOC's authority to monitor offenders and DOC's internal policies to claim the appellate court's ruling conflicts with *Joyce*. *See* Pet. at 14-15. Their reliance is misplaced because DOC's authority to monitor offenders and DOC's internal policies do not create a duty to apprehend a fugitive offender. More importantly, Appellants provide no authority or explanation as to how DOC's internal policies give rise to a recognized basis for review under RAP 13.4.

Agencies' policies do not give rise to a duty in tort. Melville v. State, 115 Wn.2d 34, 793 P.2d 952 (1990). The fact that an agency may have a policy regarding the ability to engage in a particular act is irrelevant to policy reasons and factual realities underlying the decision of whether to create a duty to perform the particular action. This is particularly true when the duty advocated by the Appellants is an unlimited duty not recognized by any court.

Further, the *Taggart* duty is derived from the common law as outlined in section 315 of the Restatement. Restatement (Second) of Torts

§ 315 (1965). The scope of the duty is dictated by the court order placing the offender on supervision and the statutes which describe the officer's power to act. *Couch v. Dep't of Corr.*, 113 Wn. App. 556, 54 P.3d 197 (2002), *review denied*, 149 Wn.2d 1012, 69 P.3d 874 (2003). But here, neither the court's order placing Goolsby on supervision, nor the statutes granting DOC authority to monitor Goolsby, dictate that DOC had a duty to monitor Goolsby when DOC is unable to do so.

In sum, the ruling does not conflict with *Taggart* because Appellants' cannot identify any statute or policy requiring DOC to apprehend an offender who has absconded. Because DOC was not charged with the duty to apprehend Goolsby by statute or the criminal court's sentencing order, DOC did not have a duty to apprehend Goolsby. *Couch*, at 204. As such, the Court of Appeals' ruling is consistent with *Taggart* and subsequent case law interpreting *Taggart*, which do not create a duty to apprehend an offender.

E. The Court of Appeals' Ruling Is Consistent With Bordon v. State.

Appellants also claim without any analysis that the Court of Appeals' ruling "irreconcilably clashes" with *Estate of Bordon v. Dep't of Corrections*, 122 Wn. App. 227, 95 P.3d 764 (2004), *review denied*, 154 Wn.2d 1003 (2005). However, Appellants' reliance on the ruling in *Bordon* is misplaced.

In *Bordon*, the offender was being supervised as the result of a number of convictions at the time he killed Ms. Bordon in a drunk driving accident. *Id.* Prior to the accident, the offender had failed to report to supervision twice. *Id.*, at 231-35. Because DOC was unaware of an eluding conviction which placed the offender under active supervision, the community corrections officer believed the offender was only being monitored for financial obligations and did not issue a warrant for his arrest for failing to report. *Id.* The Court of Appeals in that case found DOC should have known of the conviction and, therefore, had a duty to monitor the offender. *Id.* at 237. However, the Court of Appeals overturned the jury's verdict in favor of the plaintiff because at trial the plaintiffs failed to meet their burden of producing evidence that, but for DOC's failure to report violations to the court, the offender would have been in jail on the date of plaintiff's injury. *Id.* at 241-244.

The appellate court's ruling in this case is consistent with *Bordon* because the issue here is not about whether DOC knew it had the legal authority to monitor Goolsby. Rather, the issue is whether DOC had the ability to monitor and control Goolsby's behavior when he absconded. When Goolsby absconded, DOC no longer had a direct, ongoing, continuous relationship with the offender whereby DOC could control his

behavior. As such, the court of Appeal's ruling does not conflict with Bordon.

Further, the appellate court's ruling in this case is consistent with Bordon, because unlike here, the offender in Bordon was in custody when the community corrections officer failed to report the offender had violated his supervision. Bordon, at 233-34. Because the officer had the ability to seek sanctions against the offender while he was in custody, the Court of Appeals found that a duty arose. *Id.* That is the exact opposite of this case. When DOC had ongoing, continuous, contact with Goolsby, DOC was able to monitor and sanction Goolsby for violations of his community custody conditions. Once Goolsby absconded, there no longer was ongoing, continuous, contact whereby DOC could monitor Goolsby's behavior or seek sanctions from the court. Also, unlike in Bordon, DOC issued a warrant for Goolsby's arrest. If Goolsby had come in contact with law enforcement and been arrested on his warrant, DOC could have reported the violations to a sanctioning authority and began monitoring his behavior consistent with its duty.

Finally, the Court of Appeals' ruling is consistent with *Bordon* because the Appellants failed to meet their burden of producing admissible evidence to support their theory that if DOC had acted differently the offender would have been in jail on the date of plaintiff's injury.

Bordon, at 241-244. The Appellants here presented no evidence suggesting that if DOC had reported any alleged violations before Goolsby had absconded, he would have been sanctioned with confinement which would have placed him in jail at the time of the shooting. The Court of Appeals also pointed out here, "Any suggestion that Goolsby would have committed additional violations and received further sanctions is pure speculation which is insufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact." Smith, 359 P.3d at 873. As such, the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with Bordon and there is no basis for review.

VII. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that the duty recognized in *Taggart* did not arise in this case because, when an offender absconds and is on warrant status, DOC lacks an ongoing continuous relationship with the offender whereby DOC can control the offender's behavior. Thus the appellate court's decision does not conflict with any decisions of this court or the Court of Appeals. Appellants' petition should be denied.